© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved

# Risk-Benefit Ratio of Angiotensin Antagonists versus ACE Inhibitors in End-Stage Renal Disease

Domenic A. Sica, Todd W.B. Gehr and Andrea Fernandez

Divisions of Clinical Pharmacology, Hypertension and Nephrology, Medical College of Virginia of Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia, USA

# **Contents**

| Abstract  |
|---|
| 1. Treatment of Hypertension in End-Stage Renal Disease |
| 2. Pharmacokinetics                                     |
| 2.1 ACE Inhibitors                                      |
| 2.2 Angiotensin Antagonists                             |
| 3. Pharmacodynamics                                     |
| 3.1 Hypertension  |
| 3.2 Congestive Heart Failure                            |
| 4. Adverse Effects                                      |
| 4.1 Thirst  |
| 4.2 Anaemia   |
| 4.3 Angioneurotic Oedema                                |
| 4.4 Cough   |
| 4.5 Anaphylactoid Dialyser Reactions                    |
| 5. Conclusions  |

# **Abstract**

The effective treatment of hypertension is an extremely important consideration in patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Virtually any drug class — with the possible exception of diuretics — can be used to treat hypertension in the patient with ESRD. Despite there being such a wide range of treatment options, drugs which interrupt the renin-angiotensin axis are generally suggested as agents of choice in this population, even though the evidence in support of their preferential use is quite scanty.

ACE inhibitors, and more recently angiotensin antagonists, are the 2 drug classes most commonly employed to alter renin-angiotensin axis activity and therefore produce blood pressure control. ACE inhibitor use in patients with ESRD can sometimes prove an exacting proposition. ACE inhibitors are variably dialysed, with compounds such as catopril, enalapril, lisinopril and perindopril undergoing substantial cross-dialyser clearance during a standard dialysis session. This phenomenon makes the selection of a dose and the timing of administration for an ACE inhibitor a complex issue in patients with ESRD.

Furthermore, ACE inhibitors are recognised as having a range of nonpressor

effects that are pertinent to patients with ESRD. Such effects include their ability to decrease thirst drive and to decrease erythropoiesis. In addition, ACE inhibitors have a unique adverse effect profile. As is the case with their use in patients without renal failure, use of ACE inhibitors in patients with ESRD can be accompanied by cough and less frequently by angioneurotic oedema. In the ESRD population, ACE inhibitor use is also accompanied by so-called anaphylactoid dialyser reactions.

Angiotensin antagonists are similar to ACE inhibitors in their mechanism of blood pressure lowering. Angiotensin antagonists are not dialysable and therefore can be distinguished from a number of the ACE inhibitors. In addition, the adverse effect profile for angiotensin antagonists is remarkably bland, with cough and angioneurotic oedema rarely, if ever, occurring. In patients with ESRD, angiotensin antagonists are also not associated with the anaphylactoid dialyser reactions which occur with ACE inhibitors. The nonpressor effects of angiotensin antagonists – such as an influence on thirst drive and erythropoiesis – have not been explored in nearly the depth, as they have been with ACE inhibitors. Although ACE inhibitors have not been compared directly to angiotensin antagonists in patients with ESRD, angiotensin antagonists possess a number of pharmacokinetic and adverse effect characteristics, which would favour their use in this population.

Patients receiving long term maintenance haemodialysis have an age-adjusted death rate several times higher than that of the general population. [1] The large majority of patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) begin renal replacement therapy with a disproportionate burden of cardiovascular disease risk factors. [2] Thus, it is not at all surprising that cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of death in ESRD, accounting for 30 to 50% of all deaths. [1-4] Hypertension, an important contributing factor to the progression of renal failure, also features significantly in the cardiovascular event rate in the patient with ESRD. [2,5]

Hypertension is a complex multifactorial process in ESRD. [2] Volume expansion has long been held as perhaps the single most important factor in the development and maintenance of hypertension in patients receiving dialysis. [6-7] Recently, the critical role of volume in ESRD-related hypertension has been re-examined. [8-9] Although control of volume expansion remains an important element in the effective treatment of ESRD-related hypertension, a number of other factors are now recognised as important contributors to this condition. Such factors include a relative to absolute increase in renin-

angiotensin-aldosterone axis activity,<sup>[10,11]</sup> increased sympathetic activity,<sup>[12,13]</sup> endothelial abnormalities<sup>[14-16]</sup> and/or hyperparathyroidism.<sup>[17]</sup>

# 1. Treatment of Hypertension in End-Stage Renal Disease

The treatment of hypertension in the patient with ESRD is complicated. A cornerstone of therapy remains the efficient management of salt and water balance. Obstacles to this approach include:<sup>[5]</sup>

- the absence of an accepted operational definition of dry weight and methods to assess it
- patient noncompliance with dietary salt and fluid restriction
- intradialytic hypotension secondary to overly aggressive ultrafiltration during the relatively short duration of haemodialysis treatments.

An additional concern in the treatment of ESRD-related hypertension is that casual blood pressure readings obtained in the immediate predialysis period poorly reflect the true blood pressure load experienced during an interdialytic period.<sup>[7,8]</sup> Although ambulatory blood pressure monitoring may better define blood pressure load in the patient with ESRD, this procedure is not routinely available,

forcing the clinician to rely instead on casual blood pressure readings.<sup>[9,18]</sup>

ESRD-related hypertension has been effectively treated with any of a number of antihypertensive drug classes. In particular, drugs that interrupt the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis have been proposed as being well tolerated and effective agents in the treatment of hypertension in ESRD. A number of drug classes can interfere with reninangiotensin-aldosterone axis activity, including  $\beta$ -blockers, ACE inhibitors and angiotensin antagonists (AT<sub>1</sub> receptor antagonists), with ACE inhibitors being most frequently used to achieve this goal in the ESRD population. [19,20]

Unfortunately, despite a lengthy legacy of use of ACE inhibitors in the treatment of ESRD-related hypertension, a number of problems exist with ACE inhibitors, fueling the search for alternative therapies. One such alternative therapy involves the use of angiotensin antagonists, compounds that specifically block the effect of angiotensin II at the AT<sub>1</sub> receptor. Several angiotensin antagonists are either currently marketed or are in various stages of development. These compounds are mechanistically distinct in their action, being devoid of any effect on bradykinin metabolism, which distinguishes them from ACE inhibitors. They also differ pharmacokinetically from many of the ACE inhibitors in that they have a predominantly nonrenal mode of elimination. Use of angiotensin antagonists has been limited; thus, comments concerning this class of drugs must be viewed cautiously. This review will specifically address treatment considerations in ESRD-related hypertension and, by inference, congestive heart failure, as well as the risk-benefit ratio that attends the use of each of these drug classes.

## 2. Pharmacokinetics

#### 2.1 ACE Inhibitors

In the treatment of essential hypertension, the pharmacokinetics of the ACE inhibitors are rarely a consideration unless they are being given to patients with renal insufficiency.<sup>[21]</sup> In that condition,

**Table I.** ACE inhibitor properties and dialysability in patients with end-stage renal disease

| Drug                            | Protein<br>binding<br>(%) | Molecular<br>weight<br>(parent/diacid) | CL <sub>HD</sub> (ml/min)<br>[% removed] |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------|--|--|
| Benazeprilat <sup>[25]</sup>    | >95                       | 461/396                                | NA                                       |
| Captopril <sup>[26-29]</sup>    | 30                        | 217                                    | 80-120 [35]                              |
| Enalaprilat[30-32]              | 60                        | 493/384                                | 40-70 [60]                               |
| Fosinoprilat <sup>[33,34]</sup> | >95                       | 585/436                                | <10                                      |
| Lisinopril <sup>[35]</sup>      | 10                        | 442                                    | 60 [50]                                  |
| Moexipril <sup>[36]</sup>       | 50                        | 499/471                                | NA                                       |
| Perindopril <sup>[37,38]</sup>  | 20                        | 368/340                                | 50-70 [50]                               |
| Quinaprilat <sup>[39,40]</sup>  | >95                       | 475/410                                | <10                                      |
| Ramiprilat <sup>[41]</sup>      | >60                       | 417/388                                | 20-30                                    |
| Trandolapril <sup>[42]</sup>    | 80                        | 431/402                                | NA                                       |

since the mode of elimination of these compounds is primarily renal, systemic accumulation will ensue unless dosage adjustment has occurred. [22] The exceptions to this are fosinopril and trandolapril. Each of these compounds undergoes a combination of both renal and hepatic clearance and thereby accumulate to a lesser degree in renal failure. [23]

In ESRD, the otherwise mundane pharmacokinetics of ACE inhibitors become more confusing. Repetitive administration of a renally cleared ACE inhibitor, in the undialysed state, will inevitably result in significant drug accumulation and thereby prolonged pharmacological effect. Once dialysis is superimposed on a particular administration schedule, variable dialytic clearance of a compound will occur in relationship to compound-specific features such as molecular weight, protein binding and volume of distribution, as well as compoundindependent features such as membrane surface area, dialyser blood flow and duration of dialysis. The most important of these features is protein binding, since in the presence of extensive protein binding (>90%) all other considerations for dialytic clearance of a compound are superfluous. The fact that several ACE inhibitors are not heavily protein-bound means that a substantial mass of drug can be removed during a haemodialysis session (table I).[24]

If ESRD-related blood pressure values are particularly renin-dependent, they can rise during a

Table II. Elimination characteristics of ACE inhibitors in haemodialysis

| Drug         | Dialysablea | Accumulation | Post-dialysis supplementation <sup>b</sup> |
|--------------|-------------|--------------|--|
| Captopril    | Yes         | Yes          | Yes  |
| Enalaprilat  | Yes         | Yes          | Yes  |
| Lisinopril   | Yes         | Yes          | Yes  |
| Perindopril  | Yes         | Yes          | Yes  |
| Ramiprilat   | Yes         | Yes          | Yes  |
| Fosinopril   | No          | No           | No   |
| Quinapril    | No          | Yes          | Yes  |
| Benazepril   | NA          | Yes          | Yes  |
| Moexipril    | NA          | Yes          | Yes  |
| Trandolapril | NA          | No           | No   |

- Yes' indicates drug removed during dialysis.
- b Postdialysis dosage supplementation or routine administration within 4h postdialysis is considered when >30% drug removal has occurred and blood pressure levels warrant treatment

NA = data not available.

haemodialysis session in the absence of the dampening influence of an ACE inhibitor. Administration of antihypertensives in ESRD is most commonly dictated not by interdialytic readings, but rather by readings obtained in the peridialytic period. A common approach to the treatment of ESRD-associated hypertension is to withhold drug treatment for the several hours immediately before a dialysis session in the hope that peak drug effect will not coincide with the vasodepressor effect of haemodialysis and lead to intradialytic hypotension. Whether intradialytic hypotension can be effectively minimised by this approach remains to be determined.

The dialysis clearance values for ACE inhibitors in table I should be viewed cautiously. These clearance values were typically determined under what might be currently viewed as contrived study conditions; that is, dialyser blood flow rate was typically 150 to 200 ml/min and dialyser size ≤1.2m². It is highly likely that dialyser clearances for those ACE inhibitors that are dialysable will be considerably higher than the values reported in table I, since blood flow rates and dialyser size are now more typically 400 ml/min and ≥2.0m², respectively. Accordingly, assessments of ACE inhibitor effect on any of the pharmacodynamic parameters cited in this review should take into account the

year(s) in which the study was conducted and the prevailing dialysis practice at that time. Current dialysis conditions should result in considerably lower postdialysis blood concentrations for dialysable ACE inhibitors than values observed in the 1980s. Thus, much of the early literature from the 1980s concerning ACE inhibitor dialysability is no longer directly applicable.

A final consideration in assessing the differential pharmacokinetics of ACE inhibitors in ESRD relates to their mode of systemic elimination. As previously mentioned, the ACE inhibitors fosinopril and trandolapril are systemically eliminated by both renal and hepatic mechanisms. [22,23] This aspect of the elimination profile of an ACE inhibitor must be factored into their intradialytic elimination behaviour. Thus, ACE inhibitors are dialysable or nondialysable and accumulating or nonaccumulating. To start a patient with ESRD on an ACE inhibitor is not as simple as 'randomly' selecting one of the several drugs in this class. The selection process requires a thorough understanding of drug kinetics and dialysability (table II), and if correctly performed can influence outcome.

# 2.2 Angiotensin Antagonists

Angiotensin antagonists have only been available for the treatment of hypertension since 1995, at which time the first such compound, losartan potassium, was released. Since then several additional compounds have either been released for general use or will soon be available (table III). Angiotensin antagonists are distinguishable in that these

**Table III.** Angiotensin antagonist properties and dialysability in patients with end-stage renal disease

| Drug                        | Protein binding (%) | Molecular<br>weight | CL <sub>HD</sub><br>(ml/min) |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|------------------------------|
| Losartan potassium [43]     | 98.7                | 461                 | 0                            |
| E-3174 <sup>[43]</sup>      | 99.8                | 437                 | 0                            |
| Irbesartan <sup>[44]</sup>  | 90.0                | 429                 | 0                            |
| Valsartan <sup>[45]</sup>   | 95.0                | 436                 | NA                           |
| Eprosartan <sup>[46]</sup>  | 98.0                | 521                 | 11                           |
| Candesartan cilexetil [47]  | 99.0                | 611                 | 0                            |
| Telmisartan <sup>[48]</sup> | 99.5                | 515                 | 0                            |

CL<sub>HD</sub> = haemodialysis clearance; NA = not applicable.

drugs are all heavily protein-bound (>90%), which precludes significant dialysability. Thus, the process of treating renin-dependent forms of hypertension in ESRD is likely to be simplified. Table III provides information useful for estimating the potential for an angiotensin antagonist to be dialysed. Where data are available, actual clearance values are reported; otherwise the potential for dialytic clearance of an angiotensin antagonist can be inferred from the pharmacological features of the compound.

The likelihood of an angiotensin antagonist accumulating with repetitive administration has been examined only for losartan potassium and irbesartan. However, marked accumulation is unlikely with these drugs, since they all undergo a significant degree of nonrenal clearance (table IV).

# 3. Pharmacodynamics

# 3.1 Hypertension

A number of studies have established both ACE inhibitors<sup>[20,30,31,35,38,40,41]</sup> and angiotensin antagonist<sup>[51-54]</sup> as effective therapies in the treatment of ESRD-related hypertension. Unfortunately, there have been few pharmacological studies that have determined the concentration-effect relationship for blood pressure reduction with either ACE inhibitors or angiotensin antagonists. It can be presumed that if the form of hypertension expressed by a patient with ESRD is renin-dependent there will be a steep concentration-effect relationship at low doses of an ACE inhibitor and/or an angiotensin antagonist. [20,29-41] Thus, the pharmacological features of an ACE inhibitor or an angiotensin antagonist, such as dialysability and/or mode of systemic elimination, will be of lesser concern.

Alternatively, if the form of hypertension expressed by a patient with ESRD is more volume-sensitive, albeit with less renin-dependency, higher concentrations of an ACE inhibitor or an angiotensin antagonist may well become an important determinant of response. In this regard, a compound that is not dialysable but undergoes some degree of nonrenal clearance (to limit excessive systemic ac-

Table IV. Mode of elimination of angiotensin antagonists

| Drug                                  | Relative clearance (%) |         |  |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------|---------|--|
|                                       | renal                  | hepatic |  |
| Candesartan cilexetil <sup>[47]</sup> | 60                     | 40      |  |
| Eprosartan <sup>[49]</sup>            | 30                     | 70      |  |
| Irbesartan <sup>[44]</sup>            | 1                      | 99      |  |
| Losartan potassium[50]                | 10                     | 90      |  |
| E-3174 <sup>[50]</sup>                | 50                     | 50      |  |
| Telmisartan <sup>[48]</sup>           | 1                      | 99      |  |
| Valsartan <sup>[45]</sup>             | 30                     | 70      |  |

cumulation) may be favoured. The ACE inhibitors fosinopril and trandolapril are compounds with such characteristics and may well be the most suitable compounds for use in patients with ESRD.[23,33] The angiotensin antagonists also possess the pharmacological characteristics of nondialysability and an absence of systemic accumulation - similar to fosinopril and trandolapril - which facilitates their use in the treatment of hypertension in ESRD.<sup>[55]</sup> Nonetheless, until specific studies are performed in the ESRD population to determine the concentration-effect relationship of specific ACE inhibitors or angiotensin antagonists, the impact of drug dialysability and/or systemic accumulation on blood pressure control will remain conjectural.

# 3.2 Congestive Heart Failure

ACE inhibitors and angiotensin antagonists as therapy for congestive heart failure have been studied in a rather cursory fashion in the ESRD population. To date, in this population no long term outcome studies have been conducted with either of these drug classes. In addition, no studies have been conducted that compare individual ACE inhibitors and/or angiotensin antagonists in a head-to-head fashion. Heart failure management in ESRD is a complicated issue with multiple aetiological factors being present. Although ACE inhibitors can be presumed to be 'effective' in the management of congestive heart failure found in the setting of ESRD, this is by inference alone from congestive heart failure studies completed in non-ESRD populations; for angiotensin antagonists, even fewer such studies exist in the non-ESRD population.

There is no doubt that the alteration in angiotensin II effect from either ACE inhibitor or angiotensin antagonist therapy should offer some therapeutic benefit to the patient with ESRD and congestive heart failure, although the exact nature of such benefit remains to be determined, particularly for the angiotensin antagonists.

A series of recent studies have suggested a greater benefit in heart failure management from high rather than low dosages of ACE inhibitors, [56,57] and current practice guidelines for the management of congestive heart failure recommend therapy with high dosages of ACE inhibitors for optimal symptomatic and survival benefits. A question yet to be resolved is whether the benefits of ACE inhibitor therapy in congestive heart failure management are also drug concentration-dependent for the ESRD population. If a parallel exists for congestive heart failure treatment in the ESRD population, then the pharmacological features of either an ACE inhibitor or an angiotensin antagonist may dictate therapeutic success. For example, dialysable compounds would provide a less sustained exposure to the presumed positive effects of an agent that interrupts the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis. The opposite would logically apply to a nondialysable compound. Furthermore, the tentative nature of postdialysis administration of antihypertensive medication would also lessen exposure to a dialysable ACE inhibitor. A further and final confounding variable in the ESRD population is that of the inter-relationship between blood pressure and dose titration of an ACE inhibitor. Because of intradialytic blood pressure changes, it is rare that the dosage of ACE inhibitors is titrated to maximal effect in the ESRD population.

#### 4. Adverse Effects

#### 4.1 Thirst

In polydipsic haemodialysis patients, angiotensin II levels rise after a dialysis session, in part in relationship to the degree of volume removal. [58] Angiotensin II levels can remain elevated in the interdialytic period, despite the progressive volume

expansion that characterises this period. High plasma levels of angiotensin II have been associated with excessive thirst, mediated by either central or peripheral thirst promoting mechanisms.<sup>[58-60]</sup>

An important practical implication of these observations is that drugs that decrease activity in the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis may alleviate the polydipsia observed in these patients. [61-63] In an early nonblind trial using captopril, interdialytic bodyweight gain and thirst were diminished in 4 patients. [61] In a more extensive set of studies employing a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover design, enalapril therapy was accompanied by significant reduction in interdialytic bodyweight gain, thirst and oral intake of fluid. [62] These changes directly paralleled decreased levels of angiotensin II. Unfortunately, the effect of ACE inhibitors on thirst drive in patients with ESRD has not been uniformly observed. [62]

This suggests that this phenomenon may be more heterogeneous than first thought. Multiple factors exist as determinants of a slackening of thirst drive with ACE inhibitors, and, no doubt, additional clarifying studies will be required. To date, angiotensin antagonists have not been studied in patients with ESRD as to their effect on thirst drive.

#### 4.2 Anaemia

In 1984, 9 out of a group of 12 hypertensive patients on maintenance haemodialysis displayed a decrease in haemoglobin concentration, haematocrit and red blood cell mass while receiving long term treatment with captopril. After discontinuation of captopril, haematocrit values returned to pretreatment levels. [64] In follow-up studies, it was demonstrated that this phenomenon was associated with reduced circulating concentrations of angiotensin II<sup>[65]</sup> that paralleled a suppression of erythropoietin production. [66] The observed anaemia in these patients was successfully treated with androgenic steroids despite little change in erythropoietin levels, suggesting an element of 'erythropoietin resistance' to the process. [67]

ACE inhibitor-related anaemia seems to be a class effect<sup>[68]</sup> and has been observed to occur in

patients on haemodialysis<sup>[64,65,67]</sup> and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis.<sup>[69]</sup> The exact mechanism(s) of ACE inhibitor–related anaemia in ESRD remain poorly defined. It was originally believed that ACE inhibitor administration, by increasing renal blood flow and decreasing tissue hypoxia, removed a hypoxic stimulus to erythropoietin release and thereby decreased red blood cell mass.<sup>[70]</sup> Subsequent studies have suggested that ACE inhibitor–related anaemia in ESRD cannot be explained simply by decreasing erythropoietin levels,<sup>[71,72]</sup> although this so-called 'erythropoietin resistance' has not been universally observed.<sup>[73,74]</sup>

Recent observations point to 2 possible mechanisms by which ACE inhibitors might suppress erythropoiesis.<sup>[75,76]</sup> First, ACE inhibitors reduce circulating insulin-like growth factor—I and thereby curb erythropoiesis.<sup>[75]</sup> Second, ACE inhibitors increase the plasma levels of the natural stem cell regulator N-acetyl-seryl-aspartyl-lysyl-proline, which prevents the recruitment of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells.<sup>[76]</sup>

The potential for angiotensin antagonist therapy to retard red blood cell production is still poorly defined. For example, the angiotensin antagonist losartan potassium has been observed to decrease haemoglobin concentration in patients with post-transplant erythrocytosis, a pattern similar to that observed with ACE inhibitors. [77,78] Alternatively, losartan potassium has been variably associated with the development of anaemia in ESRD. [79,80] The carefully performed studies of Schiffl and Lang, [80] in particular, suggest that the partial resistance to recombinant erythropoietin observed with captopril was not seen with losartan.

Whether true differences exist between ACE inhibitors and angiotensin antagonists in their ability to affect erythropoiesis remains to be determined. Unless contraindications to their use exist, ACE inhibitors should remain the preferred compounds for suppression of erythropoiesis.

## 4.3 Angioneurotic Oedema

Angioneurotic oedema is a potentially fatal adverse effect that occurs with ACE inhibitors. Sur-

veys have indicated that angioedema occurs in from 0.1 to 1% of ACE inhibitor recipients. [81-83] Multiple causal mechanisms have been invoked for the development of angioedema, with the most plausible being that of a reduced degradation of bradykinin as a direct class effect of ACE inhibitors. [83] It was originally thought that angiotensin antagonists would not be associated with the development of angioneurotic oedema, since they do not interfere with bradykinin metabolism. [84] Recent information suggests that this thinking requires re-examination, since losartan potassium and valsartan have now been associated with the development of angioneurotic oedema. [85-89]

The frequency of angiotensin antagonist-related angioneurotic oedema is unknown. The majority of the reported cases have involved the use of losartan potassium, although this may simply be a reflection of its being the first angiotensin antagonist introduced and therefore its gaining the widest patient exposure. Of those individuals that have developed losartan potassium-related angioneurotic oedema, a high number had previously developed angioneurotic oedema during the use of an ACE inhibitor. [89] This observation suggests that a proclivity for the development of angioneurotic oedema may exist in certain patients with hypertension, irrespective of the agent in use. The mechanism of angiotensin antagonist-related angioneurotic oedema is not established at this time.<sup>[89]</sup> It is unlikely that this process involves bradykinin excess. To date, angioneurotic oedema has been rarely reported in patients with ESRD receiving an angiotensin antagonist.[88] Although ACE inhibitor-associated angioneurotic oedema is not considered a formal contraindication to the use of an angiotensin antagonist, it may be advisable not to prescribe them in patients with a history of ACE inhibitor-related angioedema until its exact pathogenesis has been established.

#### 4.4 Cough

Cough is one of the most frequent adverse effects associated with ACE inhibitors.<sup>[81,85,90]</sup> Whether cough is more frequent in patients with ESRD be-

ing treated with ACE inhibitors is currently not known. It is, though, fairly well accepted that cough frequency with angiotensin antagonists is little different from that observed with placebo. [91-93] This applies to the use of angiotensin antagonists in either essential hypertension [91-93] or ESRD. [54] The markedly lower incidence of cough with angiotensin antagonists is one of the unquestioned advantages of this drug class over ACE inhibitors.

### 4.5 Anaphylactoid Dialyser Reactions

In 1990, the first cases were described of anaphylactoid dialyser reactions occurring in patients dialysed with AN69 dialyser membranes. [94] These reactions were distinctive, occurring at the start of a haemodialysis session in patients being concomitantly treated with an ACE inhibitor. Since the original description of this entity a number of corroborating reports have appeared that further define the nature of this phenomenon. [24,95-98]

Anaphylactoid reactions present as immediate hypersensitivity reactions and anaphylaxis, both of variable severity. These reactions have not been dialyser- or dialysate-specific, although they do occur more frequently with AN69 (polyacrylonitrile) membranes. [99,100] Reactions have ranged from mild itching to life-threatening systemic reactions characterised by bronchospasm, hypotension and cardiopulmonary collapse.[98] These reactions are abrupt, occurring within seconds to minutes of blood contact with the dialyser and often occur repetitively. [24,94] These reactions are class-specific since they have been described with virtually all ACE inhibitors. [24,94,96] Although not specifically demonstrated to be a dose-dependent phenomenon, these anaphylactoid reactions are likely to be so.[101] The inability to show convincing ACE inhibitor dose dependency for this phenomenon probably relates to different administration times predialysis and/or pharmacokinetic differences between the culpable ACE inhibitors.

The aetiology of this process is probably related to ACE inhibitor–mediated perturbations in the bradykinin system. [95,101] Polyacrylonitrile membranes are highly negatively charged, which per-

mits contact activation of Hageman factor at a greater rate than might be seen with a cuprophane membrane. Hageman factor then facilitates conversion of prekallikrein to kallikrein. Under these conditions of kallikrein activation, an earlier and more intense generation of bradykinin occurs upon contact exposure of blood to polyacrylonitrile membranes. This process is simply amplified in the presence of an ACE inhibitor. [24,95,101] The association of this process with bradykinin has now been convincingly shown in that it can be completely prevented by the prior administration of the bradykinin B<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist icatibant. [101]

To date, the phenomenon of dialyser-related anaphylactoid reactions has not been convincingly demonstrated with the angiotensin antagonists. [54] Because of this, conventional practice in most dialysis units is to automatically convert ACE inhibitor—treated patients to an angiotensin antagonist if a polyacrylonitrile membrane is being used.

## 5. Conclusions

Hypertension and cardiovascular disease are common accompanying features to ESRD, often requiring targeted therapy for the disease state.

ACE inhibitors have long been thought to be the agents of choice for the patient with ESRD, since it is commonly believed that ESRD-related hypertension is a uniformly high renin state. This belief is not supported by currently available information; thus, concrete evidence in support of a specific superiority of ACE inhibitors over other antihypertensive medications is currently lacking. If similar treatment logic is applied to the angiotensin antagonist class of drugs as has evolved for ACE inhibitors in ESRD, then angiotensin antagonist use should increase significantly in the coming years.

Part of the appeal of ACE inhibitor use relates to a perception, albeit somewhat flawed, that these drugs are both efficacious and lacking in significant adverse effects in patients with ESRD. ACE inhibitor use in patients with ESRD is an exacting proposition. Their use requires a working knowledge of both an individual compound's pharmacokinetics as well as the across-dialyser clearance.

The latter varies widely among the various ACE inhibitors. The dilemma of dialytic clearance of drug is not an issue with the angiotensin antagonists because of their extensive protein binding. In addition, angiotensin antagonists are free of many of the troublesome adverse effects that accompany ACE inhibitor use. Thus, angioneurotic oedema, which occurs with ACE inhibitors, occurs much less frequently with angiotensin antagonists. In addition, anaphylactoid reactions can occur when ACE inhibitor—treated patients are dialysed with polyacrylonitrile membranes; this phenomenon is rarely (if ever) observed with angiotensin antagonists.

Thus, it appears that the angiotensin antagonists can be viewed as being similar to ACE inhibitors in their actions as well as being free from many of the troubling adverse effects observed with ACE inhibitors in the treatment of ESRD-related hypertension and/or cardiovascular disease. The pharmacokinetic characteristics of the angiotensin antagonists are quite similar, in that they are predominantly cleared by the hepatic route and they are uniformly nondialysable. Accordingly, if an angiotensin antagonist is considered as therapy in a patient with ESRD, cost issues may well become the driving forces behind the selection of a particular product. Alternatively, pharmacokinetic features, dialysability and cost are considerations with the use of an ACE inhibitor.

#### References

- Greaves SC, Sharpe DN. Cardiovascular disease in patients with end-stage renal failure. Aust NZ J Med 1992; 22: 153-8
- Mailloux LU, Haley WE. Hypertension in the ESRD patient: pathophysiology, therapy, outcomes, and future directions. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32: 705-19
- Levey AS, Beto JA, Coronado BE, et al. Controlling the epidemic of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease: what do we know? what do we need to learn? where do we go from here? Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32: 853-906
- Eknoyan G. On the epidemic of cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic renal disease and progressive renal failure: a first step to improve the outcomes. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32 Suppl. 3: 1S-4S
- Mailloux LU, Levey AS. Hypertension in patients with chronic renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32 Suppl. 3: 120S-141S
- Zucchelli P, Santoro A, Zuccala A. Genesis and control of hypertension in hemodialysis patients. Semin Nephrol 1988; 8: 163-7

- Abraham PA, Opsahl JA, Keshaviah PR, et al. Body fluid spaces and blood pressure in hemodialysis patients during amelioration of anemia with erythropoietin. Am J Kidney Dis 1990; 16: 438-46
- Luik AJ, Gladziwa U, Kooman JP, et al. Influence of interdialytic weight gain on blood pressure in hemodialysis patients. Blood Purif 1994; 12: 259-66
- Coomer RW, Schulman G, Breyer JA, et al. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in dialysis patients and estimation of mean interdialytic blood pressure. Am J Kidney Dis 1997; 29: 678-84
- Schalekamp MA, Beevers DG, Briggs JD, et al. Hypertension in chronic renal failure: an abnormal relationship between sodium and the renin-angiotensin system. Am J Med 1973; 55: 379-90
- Wilkinson R, Scott DF, Uldall PR, et all. Plasma renin and exchangeable sodium in the hypertension of chronic renal failure. West J Med 1970; 39: 377-94
- Converse Jr RL, Jacobsen TN, Toto RD, et al. Sympathetic overactivity in patients with chronic renal failure. N Engl J Med 1996; 327: 1912-8
- Beretta-Piccoli C, Weidmann P, Schiffl H, et al. Enhanced cardiovascular pressor reactivity to norepinephrine in mild renal parenchymal disease. Kidney Int 1982; 22: 297-303
- Markewitz BA, Kohan DE. Role of intrarenal endothelin in the generation and maintenance of hypertension. Miner Electrolyte Metab 1995; 21: 342-52
- Suzuki N, Matsumoto H, Miyauchi T, et al. Endothelin-3 concentrations in human plasma: the increased concentrations in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1990; 169: 809-15
- Vallance P, Leone A, Calver A, et al. Accumulation of an endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthesis in chronic renal failure. Lancet 1992; 339: 572-5
- 17. Raine AE, Bedford L, Simpson AW, et al. Hyperparathyroidism, platelet intracellular free calcium and hypertension in chronic renal failure. Kidney Int 1993; 43: 700-5
- Peixoto AJ, Sica DA. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in end-stage renal disease. Blood Press Monitor 1997; 2: 275-82
- Wong KC, Woo KS, Lam WK, et al. A comparison of the effect of enalapril and metoprolol on renal function, potassium balance, lipid profile, cardiac function, exercise tolerance and quality of life in hypertensive dialysis patients. Int J Artif Organs 1995; 18: 757-62
- Kuntziger HE, Pouthier D, Bellucci A. Treatment of hypertension with lisinopril in end-stage renal disease. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1987; 10 Suppl.: 57S-159S
- Sica DA, Ripley E. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. In: Izzo JL, Black HR, editors. Hypertension primer. 2nd ed. Baltimore (MD): Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 1998: 372-6
- Sica DA. Kinetics of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in renal failure. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1992; 20 Suppl. 10: 13S-20S
- Sica DA, Cutler RE, Parmer RJ, et al. Comparison of the steadystate pharmacokinetics of fosinopril, lisinopril, and enalapril in patients with chronic renal insufficiency. Clin Pharmacokinet 1991; 20: 420-7
- Sica DA, Gehr TWB. The pharmacokinetics of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in end-stage renal disease. Seminars Dialysis 1994; 7: 205-13
- Kaiser G, Ackermann R, Sioufi A. Pharmacokinetics of a new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, benazepril hydrochloride, in special populations. Am Heart J 1989; 117: 746-50

- Hirakata H, Onoyama K, Iseki K, et al. Captopril (SQ 14225) clearance during hemodialysis treatment. Clin Nephrol 1981; 16: 321-3
- Fujimara A, Kajiyama H, Ebihara A, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of captopril in patients undergoing continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. Nephron 1986; 44: 324-8
- Drummer OH, Workman BS, Miach PJ, et al. The pharmacokinetics of captopril and captopril disulfide conjugates in uraemic patients on maintenance dialysis comparison with patients with normal renal function. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1987; 32: 267-71
- Duchin K, Pierides A, Heald A, et al. Elimination characteristics of captopril in patients with renal failure. Kidney Int 1984; 25: 942-7
- Fruncillo RJ, Rocci ML, Vlasses PH, et al. Disposition of enalapril and enalaprilat in renal insufficiency. Kidney Int 1987;
   Suppl.: 117S-122S
- Lowenthal DT, Irvin JD, Merrill D, et al. The effect of renal function on enalapril kinetics. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1985; 38: 661-6
- 32. Kelly JG, Doyle G, Donohue J, et al. Pharmacokinetics of enalapril in normal subjects and patients with renal impairment. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1986; 21: 63-9
- Gehr TWB, Sica DA, Duchin K, et al. Fosinopril pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in maintenance hemodialysis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1993; 45: 431-6
- Gehr TWB, Sica DA, Grasela A, et al. Fosinopril pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in chronic ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1990; 41: 165-9
- 35. Kelly JG, Doyle GD, Carmody M, et al. Pharmacokinetics of lisinopril, enalapril, and enalaprilat in renal failure: effects of hemodialysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1988; 26: 781-6
- Stimple M. Moexipril. In: Messerli F, editor. Cardiovascular drug therapy. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1996: 813-6
- Sennesael J, Ali A, Sweny P, et al. The pharmacokinetics of perindopril and its effects on serum angiotensin converting enzyme activity in hypertensive patients with chronic renal failure. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 33: 93-9
- Guerin A, Resplandy G, Marchais S, et al. The effect of haemodialysis on the pharmacokinetics of perindoprilat after long-term perindopril. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1993; 44: 183-7
- Blum RA, Olson SC, Kohli RK, et al. Pharmacokinetics of quinapril and its active metabolite, quinaprilat, in patients on chronic hemodialysis. J Clin Pharmacol 1990; 30: 938-42
- Wolter K, Fritschka E. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of quinaprilat after low dose quinapril in patients with terminal renal failure. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1993; 44 Suppl. 1: 53S-56S
- Fillastre JP, Baguet JC, Dubois D, et al. Kinetics, safety, and efficacy of ramipril after long-term administration in hemodialyzed patients. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1996; 27: 269-74
- Wiseman LR, McTavish D. Trandolapril: a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic use in essential hypertension. Drugs 1993; 48: 71-90
- 43. Sica DA, Halstenson C, Gehr TWB, et al. The pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of losartan in end stage renal disease.

  In press
- Sica DA, Marino MR, Hammett JL, et al. The pharmacokinetics of irbesartan in renal failure and maintenance hemodialysis. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1997; 62: 610-8
- Prasad P, Mangat S, Choi L, et al. Effect of renal function on the pharmacokinetics of valsartan. Clin Drug Invest 1997; 13: 207-14

- Kovacs SJ, Tenero DM, Martin DE, et al. Pharmacokinetics and protein binding of eprosartan in hemodialysis-dependent patients with end-stage renal disease. Pharmacotherapy 1999; 19: 612-9
- de Zeeuw D, Remuzzi G, Kirch W. The pharmacokinetics of candesartan cilexitil in patients with renal or hepatic impairment. J Hum Hypertens 1997; 11 Suppl. 2: 37S-42S
- McClellan KJ, Markham A. Telmisartan. Drugs 1998; 56: 1039-44
- Martin DE, Chapelsky MC, Ilson B, et al. Pharmacokinetics and protein binding of eprosartan in healthy volunteers and in patients with varying degrees of renal impairment. J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 38: 129-37
- Sica DA, Shaw WC, Lo MW, et al: The pharmacokinetics of losartan in renal insufficiency. J Hypertens 1995; 13 Suppl. 1: 49S-52S
- Toto R, Shultz P, Jaij L, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of losartan in hypertensive patients with renal impairment. Hypertension 1998; 31: 684-91
- Cooper M, Anzalone D, Townes L, et al. Safety and efficacy of irbesartan in patients with hypertension and renal insufficiency [abstract]. Am J Hypertens 1998; 11: 102A
- 53. Gehr TWB, Sica DA, Pedro P, et al. The antihypertensive and neurohumoral effects of losartan in end-stage renal disease peritoneal dialysis patients [abstract]. Am J Hypertens 1998; 11: 103A
- Saracho R, Martin-Malo A, Martinez I, et al. Evaluation of the losartan in hemodialysis (ELHE) study. Kidney Int 1998; 54 Suppl. 68: 125-129
- Sica DA, Deedwania P. Cardiorenal implications of angiotensinreceptor antagonist therapy. Cong Heart Fail 1998; 4: 35-40.
- Van Veldhuisen DJ, Genth-Zotz S, Brouwer J, et al. High versus low-dose ACE inhibition in chronic heart failure: a doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of imidapril. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998; 32: 1811-8
- The ATLAS Investigators. Comparative effects of low-dose versus high-dose lisinopril on survival and major cardiac events in chronic heart failure [abstract]. Eur Heart J 1998; 19: 142
- Graziani G, Badalamenti S, Del Bo A, et al. Abnormal hemodynamics and elevated angiotensin-II plasma levels in polydipsic patients on regular hemodialysis treatment. Kidney Int 1993; 44: 107-14
- Rogers PW, Kurtzman NA. Renal failure, uncontrollable thirst, and hyperenimenia: cessation of thirst with bilateral nephrectomy. J Am Med Inform Assoc 1973; 225: 1236-8
- 60. Yamamoto T, Shimizu M, Morioka M, et al. Role of angiotensin II in the pathogenesis of hyperdipsia in chronic renal failure. J Am Med Inform Assoc 1986; 256: 604-8
- Oldenburg B, MacDonald GJ, Shelley S. Controlled trial of enalapril in patients with chronic fluid overload undergoing dialysis. BMJ 1988; 296: 1089-91
- Bastani B, Redington J. Lack of efficacy of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in reducing interdialytic weight gain. Am J Kidney Dis 1994; 24: 907-11
- Kuriyama S, Tomonari H, Sakai O. Effect of cilazapril on hyperdipsia in hemodialyzed patients. Blood Purif 1996; 14: 35-41
- Hirakata H, Onoyama K, Iseki K, et al. Worsening of anemia by long-term use of captopril in hemodialysis patients. Am J Nephrol 1984; 4: 355-60
- Hirakata H, Onoyama K, Hori K, et al. Participation of the renin-angiotensin system in the captopril-induced worsening of anemia in chronic hemodialysis patients. Clin Nephrol 1986; 26: 27-32

- Yoshida A, Morozumi K, Suganuma T, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitor and anemia in a patient undergoing hemodialysis. Nephron 1991; 59: 334-5
- 67. Onoyama K, Sanai T, Motomura K, et al. Worsening of anemia by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and its prevention by antiestrogenic steroids in chronic hemodialysis patients. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1989; 13 Suppl. 3: 27S-30S
- Thervet E, Legendre C, Debure A, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors have been reported to induce or worsen anemia in patients on hemodialysis [letter]. Am J Kidney Dis 1991: 18: 282-3
- Miranda B, Selgas R, Oliet A, et al. Treatment with converting enzyme inhibitors can contribute to anemia in CAPD patients. Kidney Int 1990; 37: 1614
- Gould AB, Goodman SA, de Wolf R, et al. Interrelation of the renin system and erythropoietin in rats. J Lab Clin Med 1980; 96: 523-34
- 71. Matsumura M, Nomura H, Koni I, Mabuchi H. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors are associated with the need for increased recombinant human erythropoietin maintenance doses in hemodialysis patients: risks of cardiac disease in dialysis patients study group. Nephron 1997; 77: 164-8
- Albitar S, Genin R, Fen-Chong M, et al. High dose enalapril impairs the response to erythropoietin treatment in hemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998; 13: 1206-10
- Charytan C, Goldfarb-Rumyantzev A, Wang YF, et al. Effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on response to erythropoietin therapy in chronic dialysis patients. Am J Nephrol 1998; 18: 498-503
- Schwenk MH, Jumani AQ, Rosenberg CR, et al. Potential angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor-epoetin alfa interaction in patients receiving chronic hemodialysis. Pharmacotherapy 1998; 18: 627-30
- Morrone LF, Di Paolo S, Logoluso F, et al. Interference of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on erythropoiesis on kidney transplant recipients: role of growth factors and cytokines. Transplantation 1997; 64: 913-8
- Azizi M, Rousseau A, Ezan E, et al. Acute angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition increases the plasma levels of the natural stem cell regulator N-acetyl-seryl-aspartyl-lysyl-proline. J Clin Invest 1996; 97: 839-44
- Hortal L, Fernandez A, Vega A, et al. Losartan versus ramipril in the treatment of postrenal transplant erythrocytosis. Transplant Proc 1998; 30: 2127-8
- Horn S, Holzer H, Horina J. Losartan and renal transplantation. Lancet 1998; 351: 111
- Schwarzbeck A, Wittenmeier KW, Hallfritzsch U. Anemia in dialysis patients as a side effect of sartanes. Lancet 1998; 352: 286
- Schiffl H, Lang SM. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors but not angiotensin II AT<sub>1</sub> receptor antagonists affect erythropoiesis in patients with anemia on end-stage renal disease. Nephron 1999; 81: 106-8
- Israili ZH, Hall WD. Cough and angioneurotic edema associated with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor therapy. A review of the literature and pathophysiology. Ann Intern Med 1992; 117: 234-42.
- Hedner T, Samuelsson O, Lunde H, et al. Angio-oedema in relation to treatment with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. BMJ 1992; 304: 941-6
- Vleeming W, van Amsterdam JGC, Stricker BH, et al. ACE inhibitor-induced angioedema: incidence, prevention, and management. Drug Saf 1998; 18: 171-88

- 84. Cockcroft JR, Sciberras DG, Goldberg MR, et al. Comparison of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition with angiotensin II receptor antagonism in the human forearm. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1993; 22: 579-84
- Pylypchuk GB. ACE inhibitor versus angiotensin II blocker induced cough and angioedema. Ann Pharmacother 1998; 32: 1060-6
- Acker CG, Greenberg A. Angioedema induced by the angiotensin-II blocker losartan [letter]. N Engl J Med 1995; 333: 1572
- Boxer M. Accupril<sup>®</sup> and Cozar<sup>®</sup>-induced angioedema in the same patient [letter]. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 98: 471
- 88. Sharma PK, Yium JJ. Angioedema associated with angiotensin II receptor antagonist losartan. S Med J 1997; 90: 552-3
- van Rijnsoever EW, Kwee-Zuiderwijk WJM, Feenstra J. Angioneurotic edema attributed to the use of losartan. Arch Intern Med 1998; 158: 2063-5
- Mackay FJ, Pearce GL, Mann RD. Cough and angiotensin II receptor antagonists: cause of confounding? Br J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 47: 111-4
- Benz J, Oshrain C, Henry D, et al. Valsartan: a new angiotensin II receptor antagonist: a double-blind study comparing the incidence of cough with lisinopril and hydrochlorothiazide. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37: 101-7
- Lacourciere Y, Brunner H, Irwin R, et al. Effects of modulators of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis on cough. J Hypertens 1994; 12: 1387-93
- Larochelle P, Flack JM, Marbury TC, et al. Effects and tolerability of irbesartan versus enalapril in patients with severe hypertension. Am J Cardiol 1997; 80: 1613-5
- 94. Tielemans C, Madhoun P, Lenaers M, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions during hemodialysis on AN69 membranes in patients receiving ACE inhibitors. Kidney Int 1990; 38: 982-4
- Verresen L, Fink E, Lemke HD, et al. Bradykinin is a mediator of anaphylactoid reactions during hemodialysis with AN69 membranes. Kidney Int 1994; 45: 1497-1503
- Brunet P, Jaber K, Berland Y, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions during hemodialysis and hemofiltration: role of associated AN69 membrane and angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitors. Am J Kidney Dis 1992; 19: 444-7
- Petrie JJB, Campbell Y, Hawley CM, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions in patients on haemofiltration with AN69 membranes whilst receiving ACE inhibitors. Clin Nephrol 1991; 36: 264-5
- Parnes EL, Shapiro WB. Anaphylactoid reactions in hemodialysis patients treated with the AN69 membrane. Kidney Int 1991; 40: 1148-52
- Pegues DA, Beck-Sague CM, Woolen SW, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions associated with reuse of hollow-fiber hemodialyzers and ACE inhibitors. Kidney Int 1992; 42: 1232-7
- Daguirdas JT, Ing TS, Roxe DM, et al. Severe anaphylactoid reactions to cuprammonium cellulose hemodialyzers. Arch Intern Med 1985; 145: 489-94
- Krieter D, Grude M, Lemke HD, et al. Anaphylactoid reactions during hemodialysis in sheep are ACE inhibitor dose-dependent and mediated by bradykinin. Kidney Int 1998; 53: 1026-35

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Domenic A. Sica*, Box 980160, MCV Station, Medical College of Virginia of Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA 23298-0160, USA.

E-mail: dsica@hsc.vcu.edu